No. **S**173586

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STATE BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF CALIFORNIA, AFL-CIO,

FI FD

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF VISTA, et al.,

Respondents.

JUN 8 - 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D052181

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of San Diego Case No. 37-2007-00054316-CU-WM-NC Hon. Robert P. Dahlquist, Presiding

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STEPHEN P. BERZON (46540)
SCOTT A. KRONLAND (171693)
PETER E. LECKMAN (235721)
ALTSHULER BERZON LLP
177 Post Street, Suite 300
San Francisco, California 94108
Telephone: 415/421-7151

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does California's prevailing wage law, Labor Code §§1720-84, apply to construction projects awarded by charter cities?

INTRODUCTION

This case presents an "important question[]" that the Court left "open for consideration at another time" in City of Long Beach v.

Department of Industrial Relations (2004) 34 Cal.4th 942, 947. That question is whether charter cities, which collectively contain roughly half of California's population, can exempt outside contractors on their construction projects from the State's prevailing wage law.

The prevailing wage law requires outside contractors on public work to pay their employees at least the prevailing wages and benefits for the craft and geographic area. As such, the law prevents public work from undermining area labor standards for construction workers who move from project to project, ensuring that contractors who are bound by collective bargaining agreements to pay prevailing wages can bid on a level playing field. The prevailing wage law also requires contractors to hire apprentices indentured in State-approved programs to perform 20 percent of the work, thereby training California's next generation of skilled workers.

The Legislature made the prevailing wage law applicable to projects awarded by the State and every political subdivision and public body, including "any . . . city." Labor Code §1721. The Legislature also made statutory findings that a prevailing wage law for all public work is necessary to address a statewide concern with maintaining area labor standards in the construction industry. Stats. 2003, ch. 851, §1 (A.B. 1506); Stats. 2002, ch. 892, §1 (S.B. 278); Stats. 2002, ch. 868, §1 (A.B. 1506). The Legislature also adopted a Concurrent Resolution to reiterate those

findings and "reaffirm[] its intent for the state prevailing wage law to apply ... to ... the projects of chartered cities, as the law addresses important statewide concerns." Stats. 2003, ch. 135 (S.C.R. 49).

Ordinarily, a statute adopted by the California Legislature trumps the conflicting ordinance of a charter city – even as to a matter that otherwise would be just a "municipal affair" – "if . . . the subject of the state statute is one of statewide concern and . . . the statute is reasonably related to its resolution." California Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1, 17. "[T]here are innumerable authorities holding that general law prevails over local enactments of a chartered city, even in regard to matters which would otherwise be deemed to be strictly municipal affairs, where the subject matter of the general law is of statewide concern." Professional Fire Fighters, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1963) 60 Cal.2d 276, 292. Moreover, any "doubt" about whether a statute addresses statewide concerns "must be resolved in favor of the legislative authority of the state." California Fed., 54 Cal.3d at 24 (internal quotation marks removed).

With respect to the prevailing wage law, however, this Court held in City of Pasadena v. Charleville (1932) 215 Cal. 384 that the California Legislature did not have the constitutional authority to apply an earlier version of the law to a charter city project. Charleville is a Lochner-era decision that relied on Adkins v. Children's Hospital (1923) 261 U.S. 525 for the premise that the Legislature has no police power to set labor standards. From that premise, the Court reasoned that a prevailing wage law cannot be "a matter of general public or state concern." Charleville, 215 Cal. at 389. (The Charleville decision was not based on the limitation of the prevailing wage law to public work; indeed, after concluding the prevailing wage law did not apply to charter cities, the Charleville court

reached the opposite conclusion about a statute that barred employment of non-citizens on public work, even though that statute also applied to contractors on public projects only. *Id.* at 398.)

Subsequent cases have repudiated entirely the *Lochner*-era constitutional premise for *Charleville's* holding about the prevailing wage law.¹ Every other state supreme court to consider this issue post-*Charleville* has held that prevailing wage laws for public construction projects address significant extra-municipal concerns and, therefore, apply to home-rule cities. *See Arizona v. Jaastad* (Ariz. 1934) 32 P.2d 799, 801; *City of Joplin v. Industrial Comm'n of Missouri* (Mo. 1959) 329 S.W.2d 687, 693-94; *R.D. Andersen Constr. Co. v. City of Topeka* (Kan. 1980) 612 P.2d 595, 602; *State ex rel. Evans v. Moore* (Ohio 1982) 431 N.E.2d 311, 313-14; *People ex rel. Bernardi v. City of Highland Park* (Ill. 1988) 520 N.E.2d 316, 317.

Meanwhile, in the absence of a decision from this Court, lower court judges and justices in California have reached different conclusions about whether *Charleville* is still good law.

The Long Beach case reached this Court after three Court of Appeal justices concluded that Charleville is no longer controlling and that the prevailing wage law applies to charter city projects. See 1 Cal.Rptr.3d 837, 852-59, superceded by grant of review.

Three justices called for Charleville to be overruled in Bishop v. City of San Jose (1969) 1 Cal.3d 56, stating: "Adkins... has long been repudiated, and it is now recognized that minimum wages are a proper subject of state concern. West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish (1937) 300 U.S. 379. City of Pasadena v. Charleville should also be overruled." Bishop, 1 Cal.3d at 70 (Peters, J., dissenting). The majority in Bishop did not reach the issue because Bishop involved a city's own employees, rather than employees of outside contractors who are covered by the prevailing wage statute.

In the present case, the trial judge concluded that the prevailing wage law addresses statewide concerns so it *should be* applicable to the City of Vista – but that he was bound by precedent to rule otherwise. JA 699.²

The Court of Appeal panel was divided. The majority opinion follows *Charleville*, holding that the prevailing wage law does not apply to the municipal projects of charter cities. The dissent disagrees, pointing out that the same Court of Appeal division previously had held, in another prevailing wage case, that the "the protection afforded private sector employees working on public projects is a matter of statewide concern." Dis. Op. at 9-10 (emphasis in original) (quoting *DLSE v. Ericsson Information Systems* (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 114, 124).

This Court should grant review to revisit *Charleville* and settle the issue.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The State's Prevailing Wage Law

California's prevailing wage law requires that contractors on construction projects "paid for in whole or in part out of public funds" (Labor Code §1720(a)(1)), must pay their employees "not less than the general prevailing rate of per diem wages for work of a similar character in the locality in which the public work is performed." §1771.³ The law applies only to outside contractors, not "to work carried out by a public agency with its own forces." §1771.

²/ Citations to "JA __" are to pages in the Joint Appendix filed in the Court of Appeal.

³/ Unless otherwise noted, referenced code sections are in the California Labor Code.

The Department of Industrial Relations determines the prevailing wage and benefit package for each craft and labor market area. §§1773, 1773.9. The Legislature defined the "prevailing" wage as the "modal" wage (*i.e* single wage rate paid to the greatest number of workers in the relevant craft and labor market), so prevailing wage rates generally track the wage rates agreed upon in regional collective bargaining between construction unions and contractors' associations. §1773.9(b); JA 114. These multi-employer collective bargaining agreements enable skilled construction workers to move from project-to-project, and employer-to-employer, while continuing to receive the same hourly wages and coverage through the same health care and pension plans. JA 113.

The prevailing wage law also promotes apprenticeship training by requiring that contractors on public projects that employ workers "in any apprenticeable craft" must use apprentices indentured in state-approved apprenticeship programs to perform at least 20 percent of that work. §1777.5(d), (g). Contractors may pay these apprentices a lower "apprentice" prevailing wage rate. §1777.5(b). For every hour of work in an apprenticeable craft, the contractor also must make training contributions to the California Apprenticeship Council or to an approved apprenticeship program. §1777.5(m). More than 50,000 workers in California are indentured in these state-approved apprenticeship programs in the construction trades. JA 115.

The California Legislature made the prevailing wage law applicable to contractors on construction projects undertaken by the State and all its political subdivisions, including "any . . . city." §1721. The body "awarding any contract for public work" must include specifications in its contracts that require the payment of prevailing wages and the use of apprentices. §§1773.2, 1776(g), 1777.5(n).

2. The City of Vista's Ordinance

The City of Vista ("City" or "Vista") had been a general law city since it was incorporated. At the beginning of 2007, Vista was about to embark on a \$100 million public works capital improvement program. JA 129-141. Vista's City Attorney advised the City Council that the City could save money on its capital projects if it became a charter city because, under current caselaw, charter cities are not bound by the State's prevailing wage law. JA 130. The projected savings would come from hiring contractors that provide lower wages and benefits to their employees and do not train apprentices.⁴

The Vista City Council approved a special election to adopt a charter. JA 129-141. The measure appeared on the ballot for the June 5, 2007 special election as Proposition C. JA 143-47. The ballot pamphlet included the City Council's "Argument In Favor of Proposition C," which stated that, by adopting a charter, the City could save money on capital projects through the use of contractors that do not pay prevailing wages. JA 146. There was no opposing ballot argument. *Id.* On June 5, 2007, City voters approved Proposition C. Turnout was about 21 percent of eligible voters, and fewer than 6,500 Vista residents cast ballots. JA 314, ¶ 32.

^{4/} The extent to which prevailing wage laws increase total project costs has been the subject of academic debate. Most studies have found the increase in project costs to be insignificant and that the savings from using cheap labor on public construction projects is offset by the loss of income tax and sales tax revenues and the public expense of providing health care and other social services to low-wage workers and their families. See generally The Economics of Prevailing Wages (2005) (Azari-Rad, Philips, and Prus, ed.); N. Mahalia, "Prevailing Wages and Government Contracting Costs: A Review of the Research" (Economic Policy Institute 2008), available at www.epi.org/publications/entry/bp215.

On June 26, 2007, the Vista City Council followed through with its plan to bypass the State's prevailing wage law by adopting Ordinance No. 2007-9. JA 153-167. The Ordinance amends the Vista Municipal Code to provide: "A. Payment of Prevailing Wages. No City contract shall require payment of the prevailing wage schedule unless: 1. The prevailing wage is legally required, and constitutionally permitted to be imposed, by federal or state grants pursuant to federal or state law; or 2. The project is considered by the City Council not to be a municipal affair of the city; or 3. Payment of the prevailing wage schedule is authorized by resolution of the City Council..." JA 166 (emphasis added).

Following adoption of City of Vista Ordinance No. 2007-9, the City began to enter into contracts for the City's upcoming capital projects without including prevailing wage specifications. *See, e.g.*, JA 385-530 (October 30, 2007 City Council Agenda Report, approving a design-build contract for two fire stations that does not include a prevailing wage law compliance requirement). Among the City's scheduled \$100 million in capital projects are the construction of two new fire stations, a permanent stage house for the City's amphitheater, a new civic center, and a new sports park. JA 244.

3. Trial Court Proceedings

After the Vista City Council adopted its anti-prevailing-wage ordinance, the State Building and Construction Trades Council of California, AFL-CIO ("SBCTC"), filed suit in the San Diego Superior Court. The SBCTC sought a writ of mandate to compel the City and its officials to comply with the State's prevailing wage law. JA 245-306. The SBCTC is a labor federation comprised of local labor unions and local labor councils that collectively represent more than 300,000 men and women who

work in the building and construction trades in California, including journey-level workers and apprentices. JA 247, ¶ 8.

The SBCTC argued that a state law trumps the conflicting ordinance of a charter city if the subject of the state law is one of statewide concern. JA 95-109. The SBCTC pointed to the California Legislature's findings that the prevailing wage law addresses statewide concerns with protecting area labor standards and promoting apprenticeship training. JA 101. The SBCTC also presented undisputed evidence about the regional labor markets for journey-level and apprentice construction workers in California to show that the concerns addressed by the prevailing wage law have significant extra-municipal dimensions. JA 110-117.

The trial court concluded that it was bound by precedent to deny the SBCTC's petition. JA 699. In Vial v. City of San Diego (1981) 122

Cal.App.3d 346, the Court of Appeal had relied on this Court's decision in Charleville to hold that whether the prevailing wage law applies to a charter city construction project depends on whether the project is a matter of statewide concern, and that the Legislature lacks the constitutional authority to apply the prevailing wage law to municipal projects. But the trial court also stated that "[i]f this Court were not bound to follow the Vial decision, the Court would have been inclined to grant [the SBCTC's] petition." Id. The trial court explained:

It appears to this Court that the focus of the *Vial* decision was on the issue of whether any particular construction project would be a matter of "municipal" vs. "statewide" concern. . . . In contrast, it appears that the more appropriate focus should be on whether *the statute* that is sought to be applied addresses a matter of "municipal" or "statewide" concern. . . . The Court believes that the payment of prevailing wages for modern public works, and the public policies underlying the prevailing wage statute, are properly considered matters of statewide concern. . . .

Therefore, if this Court were free to decide the matter without having to follow *Vial*, the Court would be inclined to find that (1) the prevailing wage law properly reflects a matter of statewide concern, and (2) the City of Vista is required to follow the prevailing wage law in connection with its pending public projects.

JA 699 (emphasis in original).

The trial court entered a final judgment denying the SBCTC's petition. JA 696-700.

4. Court of Appeal Decision

The Court of Appeal vacated submission after oral argument, stating that "important and complex issues . . . require additional time in which to render a decision." 1/29/2009 Order. After resubmitting the appeal, the panel issued a divided decision.

- a. All three justices agreed that the case is ripe and that there is a direct conflict between the State's prevailing wage law and the City of Vista's refusal to include prevailing wage specifications in its contracts.

 Maj. Op. at 7-10, 31-32; Dis. Op. at 2 n.2.
- b. The majority held that the prevailing wage law does not apply to the municipal projects of charter cities and affirmed the denial of the petition.

The majority framed the constitutional test as "whether the extraterritorial impact of a city's taxation or regulation as a practical matter interferes in a substantial way with a policy the Legislature is attempting to advance." Maj. Op. at 34. Applying that test, the majority concluded that because the prevailing wage law does not apply to all construction projects, no significant policy interest would be undermined if charter cities do not comply with the law. *Id.* at 40 (stating that the "lack of general application

and . . . exceptions" to the prevailing wage law "prevent us from" concluding the law addresses statewide concerns) (emphasis supplied).

Because the Legislature did not make the prevailing law universally applicable, the majority dismissed as "not very helpful" the Legislature's findings that the "the requirement that workers on public works projects be paid the prevailing rate of per diem wages ensures that the local wage base is not lowered" and that "promoting quality apprenticeship training in the construction trades depends upon the incentives provided by the prevailing wage law." *Id.* at 36-37 (quoting Stats. 2003, res. ch. 135, at 97-98). Similarly, the majority stated that the factual record before the trial court "does not assist us." Id. at 39. That uncontradicted record establishes, among other things, that today's construction labor markets are regional, not local, and that, in the absence of a prevailing wage law, "unionsignatory contractors would have difficulty competing for work on public projects, which often must be awarded to the lowest bidder" and this "would lead to downward pressure on construction wages and benefits throughout the labor-market area, because union-signatory contractors would seek concessions to remain competitive on public work." JA 114-15 (emphasis supplied).

The majority also reasoned that it lacked a sufficient basis for departing from *Charleville*. *Id*. at 33 ("The biggest hurdle to any departure from the holdings in *Charleville* and the cases which have consistently followed it, is the fact that, in its essential dimensions, the [prevailing wage law] has not changed since its enactment.").

c. Justice Irion dissented. She concluded that *Charleville* is no longer good law (Dis. Op. at 5-7), and that the majority had erred by relying on post-*Charleville* cases about municipal employee salaries because the California Constitution explicitly gives charter cities authority to set the

compensation of *their own* employees. *Id.* at 8-9 (citing Cal. Const., Art. XI, § 5(b)). Justice Irion also concluded that the majority had "conduct[ed] the wrong inquiry" (*id.* at 3):

According to the majority, the dispositive inquiry in determining the existence of a statewide concern is whether the policies supporting the prevailing wage law would be undermined if municipalities were not subject to the law. . . . This approach does not follow the analytical construct in [California Supreme Court decisions]. The majority's analysis does not focus on whether, in enacting the prevailing wage law, the Legislature was motivated by a statewide, or extramunicipal, concern. Instead, by inquiring whether the prevailing wage law has a substantial impact on the stability of the regional labor markets, my colleagues improperly perform an inquiry into the effectiveness and advisability of the prevailing wage law. Our Supreme Court in California Federal expressly advised against such an approach when it cautioned that "[t]he question is not whether the amendment [of the laws governing municipal taxation of savings banks] was prudent public policy or whether the municipal tax burden on savings banks has a *sufficient impact* on the industry's financial health to make the change to a net income tax system an advisable or effective measure."

Dis. Op. at 3-4 (emphases in original) (quoting Cal. Fed., 54 Cal.3d at 23).

Justice Irion would have held that the prevailing wage law applies to charter city projects because "the record establishes that the legislative purposes of (1) maintaining the wage base in the construction industry and (2) promoting quality apprenticeship training in construction trades are both matters of statewide concern and, further, that the prevailing wage law is reasonably related to advancing those purposes." *Id.* at 13.

d. No rehearing petition was filed.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

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