SUPREME COURT COPY

RECEIVED

No. S173586 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUN 2 6 2009

CLERK SUPREME COUR

STATE BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES COUNCIL OF CALIFORNIA, AFL-CIO

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT FILED

¥7

JUN 2 6 2009

THE CITY OF VISTA, et al.,

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Respondents.

Deputy

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth District – Division 1

Case No. D052181

On Appeal from the Superior Court for San Diego County Case No.37-2007-00054316-CU-WM-NC Hon. Robert P. Dahlquist, Presiding

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAROLD PIEPER (#497020)

City Of Vista 600 Eucalyptus Avenue Vista, California 92084

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

One of the primary reasons for a lack of a record is the adverse costs that a true analysis of the impact of prevailing wages would have on charter city projects. While the Petition cites studies showing the "benefits" of PWL, the bottom line is that PWL raises the costs of local projects. The "prevailing wage" legislation shifts local funds from the end product to be constructed (i.e., fire station or low income housing) to the workers who construct the facilities. (Dunn, Quigley & Rosenthal, The Effects of Prevailing Wage Requirements on the Cost of Low-Income Housing, 39 Industrial and Labor Relations Review 141 (October 2005) (impacts of the "prevailing wage" on California low-income housing production). The neutral University of California (Berkeley) study showed that from 1996 to mid-2002, estimates of additional construction costs for "prevailing wage" projects added 9% to 37% to the cost of housing and lowered the number of units built in the California.

The right of charter cities to choose whether to require prevailing

wages is consistent with other similar constitutionally guaranteed sovereign powers. Petitioner urges a reversal of this precedent would have to be based on the regional impact rationale. But the record in this case is devoid of showing that the failure to pay prevailing rates has any adverse impact in the region. In fact, some of the largest Charter Cities require prevailing wages despite the high cost of the program. The bare record in this case does not furnish a basis to reverse decades of precedent. A reversal would take this area of law from its current "bright line" test based on the non-universal scope of the state regulation and replace it with a determination based on undefined regional impacts. The same could be said of any "municipal affair" since every action of local government can be construed to have some regional impacts.

III. Article XI, § 5(b), giving charter cities control over employee compensation, prevents application of prevailing wage laws to charter cities.

Article XI, § 5(b) of the Constitution forbids legislative interference with a Charter City's determinations of whom it will hire or how it will compensate them. (See, e.g., County of Riverside v. Superior Court, (2003) 30 Cal.4th 278.) When backed by a sufficiently important state purpose, state laws may impose only minor, procedural intrusions on charter cities' section 5(b) authority. (People ex rel. Seal Beach Police Officers Association v. City of Seal Beach, (1984) 36 Cal.3d 591; Baggett v. Gates, (1982) 32 Cal.3d 128.)

This Court has already held that a similar structure for the University of California prohibited the Legislature from imposing prevailing wage laws, which were neither minor nor procedural. (San Francisco Labor Council v. Regents of University of California (1980) 26 Cal.3d 785.) Prevailing wage laws serve essentially as a price floor for public works projects. The Court held that price ceilings imposed on charter cities' authority over employee compensation are impermissible, because the price of employment is one of the most important factors in an employment agreement. (Sonoma County Organization of Public Employees v. County of Sonoma, (1979) 23 Cal.3d 296.) Price floors are no different than price ceilings because they restrict a charter city's authority to negotiate with the person the charter city wants to hire. The apprenticeship aspect of prevailing wage laws is even more problematic, because it requires that 1/6 of the workforce on a public works project be people a city might otherwise not hire, with lesser qualifications than other workers.

The fact that prevailing wage laws affect those hired by contract rather than those hired as employees is immaterial. First, the distinction between contractors and employees is blurred when most cities' employees have their wages, hours, and working conditions established in contracts between their collective bargaining units and the city. (Government Code § 3500 et. seq.) Second, the text of the constitutional provision seems to

indicate that cities should determine who works on city-funded projects, without concern for whether they are employed through a letter of hire or via contract. Third, public contracting is a municipal affair in its own right, (Bishop v. City of San Jose, (1969) 1 Cal.3d 56), and the price of the contract is also a municipal affair. Respondents request that any review include application of Art. XI, § 5(b).

IV. Constitutional Unfunded Mandate Prohibitions Should Be Considered If Review Takes Place.

Proposition 1A (November 2004) was intended to prevent the Legislature, or any other state agency, from passing unfunded state mandates or higher program costs to local governments. (Cal. Const. Art. XIIIB, § 6.) It passed with 83.7% of the statewide vote.² This new constitutional provision is a direct impediment to Legislative intrusion into local affairs. If review is granted, the Court should decide what impact this new constitutional protection of local government has on Petitioner's request.

There are three possible impacts. First, the measure elevates local government fiscal protection to a "statewide concern." Second, it prevents the imposition of PWL/apprentice requirements on charter cities after the effective date of the constitutional amendment. Third, if this Court rules for Petitioner, charter cities will seek reimbursement from the State

²See: www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections

Mandates Commission in return for paying prevailing wages.

a. General rules regarding mandates under Proposition 1A.

Under Proposition 1A, the Legislature cannot, without compensating cities for the increased program costs, adopt legislation that mandates the payment of "prevailing wages" by Charter Cities for projects using local funds. (Cal. Const. Art. XIIIB, § 6(a).) According to the Legislative Analyst, it would result in "significant changes to state authority over local finances." ³

Thus proposition 1A, in addition to requiring the State to pay for new mandates, shows the intent of the People, using their reserved power to protect the fiscal integrity of local governments. The approval of the proposition to protect local fiscal integrity must be seen as intent to keep the municipal fiscal affairs at the highest level of importance. Article XIIIB, § 6(a) states as follows:

(a) Whenever the Legislature or any state agency mandates a new program or higher level of service on any local government, the State shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse that local government for the costs of the program or increased level of service, except that the Legislature may, but need not, provide a subvention of funds for the following mandates:

(1) Legislative mandates requested by the local agency affected.

(2) Legislation defining a new crime or changing an existing definition of a crime.

(3) Legislative mandates enacted prior

³ *Id*.

to January 1, 1975, or executive orders or regulations initially implementing legislation enacted prior to January 1, 1975.

This new protection of local government prevents "any state agency" from imposing "new programs" or an "increased level of service" without reimbursement. The first test of this Constitutional amendment demonstrated the breadth of its coverage as follows:

The subvention requirement of article XIIIB, section 6 applies "[w]henever the Legislature or any state agency mandates a new program or higher level of service . . ." The allencompassing "any state agency" language defeats any perceived presumption that the electorate intended to incorporate into article XIIIB, section 6 the exclusion of a particular state agency, e.g., the Regional Water Board, from its subvention requirement. (County of Los Angeles v. Commission on State Mandates (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 898, 919.)

A state court declaring that the Legislature has preempted local regulation would trigger the protections of Art. XIIIB, § 6(b). Courts and the Legislature are state agencies. (Sacramento & San Joaquin Drainage Dist. v. Superior Court (1925) 196 Cal. 414; Greater Los Angeles Council on Deafness v. Zolin (9th Cir. 1987) 812 F.2d 1103, 1110.) Proposition 1A contains only three exceptions. None of them apply in this case. The provisions of the Constitution require the Legislature to fund any mandates imposed by a "state agency." (Cal. Const. Art. XIIIB § 6(b) (1).)

The purpose of section 6 "is to preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIIIA and XIIIB impose." (County of San Diego v. State of California (1991) 15 Cal.4th 68, 81; County of Fresno v. State of California (1991) 53 Cal.3d 482, 487.) The section, even before it was strengthened in November 2004, "was designed to protect the tax revenues of local governments from state mandates that would require expenditure of such revenues." (County of Fresno v. State of California (1991) 53 Cal.3d 482, 487; Redevelopment Agency v. Commission on State Mandates (1997) 55 Cal.App.4th 976, 984-85.)

b. The Potential Impact of Art. XIIIB, § 6 on State Action that attempts to impose new costs on Charter Cities.

The election of November 2004 brought a change to the fundamental relationship between state and local government in California. With the adoption of Cal. Const. Art. XIIIB, § 6(b), the State may no longer impose new costs on local government to fund Legislative priorities. Under Petitioner's reasoning, the mandate would be (1) higher costs for public works contracts that are 100% funded by local government to further a Legislative goal, (2) higher salaries, and (3) a training program for private workers.

The determination of a "statewide concern" usually encompasses a discussion of the intent of the Legislature. Here, it is the People under their reserved power.

(W)here the matter implicates a "municipal affair" and poses a genuine conflict with state law, the question of statewide concern is the bedrock inquiry through which the conflict between state and local interests is adjusted. If the subject of the statute fails to qualify as one of statewide concern, then the conflicting charter city measure is a "municipal affair" and "beyond the reach of legislative enactment." (citation omitted) itself is the paradigm of a legislative effort to prescribe a core municipal activity-local taxation-without support originating in identifiable statewide concerns. If, however, the court is persuaded that the subject of the state statute is one of statewide concern and that the statute is reasonably related to its resolution, then the conflicting charter city measure ceases to be a "municipal affair" pro tanto and the Legislature is not prohibited by article XI, section 5(a), from addressing the statewide dimension by its own tailored enactments. (Cal Fed at p. 18.)

Here, the inquiry should be different in two significant respects than Cal Fed. First, the fiscal interest protected in the State Constitution is local rather than regional. Second, the approval is by Initiative rather than statute. However, the review by this Court should be the same. Therefore, the question should be whether the Legislature can intrude into an area of identifiable statewide concern (local fiscal affairs) identified in the

November 2004 ballot measure.4

Does an action by a State Agency to impose new costs on Charter Cities after November 2004 violate Proposition 1A? If review is granted, the Court should consider whether the actions at the November 2004 ballot make protection of local fiscal affairs a matter of "statewide concern" and not subject to regulation by the Legislature. Without question, paying higher wages costs more. Local public works contracts with prevailing wage and apprenticeship requirements will raise the cost of charter city local programs.

A final question on the impact of Const. Art. XIIIB, § 6(b) is, if this Court imposes PWL and apprenticeship requirements on charter cities, can the cities seek cost reimbursement through the State Mandates process? (County of Los Angeles v. Commission on State Mandates (2007) 150 Cal.App.4th 898.) The payment of prevailing wages by contractors in local public works projects will raise the cost of local projects. It is requested that the Court consider this issue, as well as the other Constitutional reimbursement/mandate issues, if the Court decides to hear this matter.

V. The Petition is a Facial Attack that Fails to Recognize the Exceptions Written into the Law.

The petition for review is brought as a facial attack instead of a wage claim with an administrative record. (See, e.g. City of Long Beach v. Dept.

⁴ See: <u>www.sos.ca.gov/elections/elections</u>

of Industrial Relations (2004) 34 Cal. 4th 942, 948-949.) No evidentiary link between any of Vista's local projects and the regional market was produced by Petitioner. The majority opinion correctly noted that, while construction workers may drive great distances to work, there was no evidence that the competitively bid wages paid by some charter cities have any "significant" influence over the regional public and private construction market. (Cal Fed at p. 17.) The result of a facial attack is that all local and UC contracts will have to require prevailing wages. If there are any exceptions to the rule, the facial attack does not succeed. (Pac. Civic Legal Foundation v. Brown (1981) 29 Cal.3d 168, 180-181)

This raises a question as to the scope of Petitioner's attack. They have not addressed the ability of the University of California to continue to contract for construction of projects that fall under the "internal university affairs" protection of the Constitution. (Cal. Const. Art IX, sec. 9.) It is requested that, if this Court decides to hear this case, they consider the issue of whether the facial attack of Petitioner, that leaves out a challenge to the University of California exception and ignores other Legislative exceptions, can succeed.

Another issue raised by a facial attack is the underlying rationale for the petition. Petitioner seeks a writ to declare that the regional impacts of local projects lead to the application of PWL/apprenticeship rules. If, on a case-by-case basis, some local projects do not have regional impacts, should those projects be exempt? If so, a case-by-case analysis cannot be jusitfied under a facial attack.

E. CONCLUSION

The Petition for review attacks a decision that is consistent with long-standing precedent. While the question, by this Court's own past pronouncement, is an "important" issue, the majority opinion carefully navigates the record and the law and arrives at the legally compelled conclusion. Even if this Court wishes to revisit the issue of whether PWL is a matter of "statewide concern," the record in this case is not appropriate to do so.

Since this issue was last fully visited by an appellate court in 1996, one cannot say that the Legislative record has significantly changed. The Legislature continues to make exceptions, while declaring otherwise. Governors have vacillated from the Davis Administration that issued the DIR ruling in the *Long Beach* case to the Schwarzenegger Administration that follows *Vial.* (*See, Long Beach* at p. 949; Department of Industrial Relations, *Public Works Case No. 2007-018: Zoo Improvements City of Merced*, dated May 2, 2008, pp. 7-8.)

To date, the application of public sector-only regulations has been generally limited to procedural issues such as the Tort Claims Act (Government Code § 800 et. seq.), Brown Act (Government Code § 54950 et. seq.), and Public Records Act (Government Code § 6250 et. seq.). This

rule would impact local projects using local tax money. These areas are normally only subject to regulations of general applicability. The record in this case does not pass that test.

The Petition has failed to present a sufficient record to prevail. The citizens of this state have declared the importance of "local fiscal affairs." At a time when all levels of governments are struggling for funds, this Petition, and its state mandated costs, could not be more out of step with "statewide concerns". The Petition for Review should be denied.